

# Contents

Executive Summary			3
Introduction			4
Background			5
	0	What is Economic Education	
	0	Why is Economic Education Important	
Current State of Economic Literacy			8
	0	Understanding of Economic Concepts	
	0	Understanding Economic Policies and Events	
	0	Economic Education in Schools	
Current State of Economic Education in PSHE			10
	0	Non-Statutory	
	0	Financial, rather than Economic	
	0	Unconnected	
	0	Variable	
	0	Poor Teacher Training	
Case	St	cudies	13
	0	Austria	
	0	United States of America	
Policy Recommendations			15
Conclusion			19

# **Executive Summary**

Economic literacy is a cornerstone of personal financial well-being, informed citizenship, and economic stability. Despite its critical importance, economic education within English secondary schools is inconsistent and insufficiently integrated into the curriculum. This paper addresses the pressing need to enhance economic education by making it a statutory component of Personal, Social, Health, and Economic (PSHE) education, developing a standardised economic curriculum, and improving teacher training.

Economic education extends beyond financial literacy, encompassing a wide range of concepts from understanding market dynamics to analysing economic policies. It is essential for equipping individuals with the knowledge to make informed financial decisions and actively participate in economic discussions. Current economic education within PSHE is not statutory, leading to significant variability in the depth and quality of instruction across schools.

Economic education is vital for personal financial management, providing individuals with the skills to navigate complex financial environments. It fosters a deeper understanding of economic systems and policies, promotes informed citizenship, and enhances critical thinking and problem-solving abilities. Studies demonstrate the profound impact of comprehensive economic education on economic literacy.

The current PSHE curriculum in England lacks standardisation in economic education, resulting in disparities in student knowledge and preparedness. Many programmes focus narrowly on personal finance, neglecting broader economic concepts. Additionally, a significant gap exists in teacher training, with many educators lacking the necessary background in economics to deliver effective instruction.

### Introduction

In today's interconnected and rapidly evolving global economy, the importance of economic literacy cannot be overstated. Economic literacy encompasses a comprehensive understanding of economic principles, the ability to make informed financial decisions, and the skills to critically engage with economic policies and trends. Despite its critical role in shaping informed citizens and fostering economic stability, economic education within the English secondary school curriculum remains insufficiently integrated and inconsistent. This paper explores the necessity of enhancing economic education within the Personal, Social, Health, and Economic (PSHE) education framework, presenting compelling arguments for making economic education a statutory component, developing a standardised economic curriculum, and improving teacher training.

The current landscape of economic education in English secondary schools is characterised by significant variability in content and delivery, resulting in disparities in students' economic literacy. While some schools provide robust economic education programmes, others offer only superficial coverage, often limited to basic financial literacy. This inconsistency undermines students' ability to understand and engage with economic concepts critically and effectively. Addressing this issue requires a concerted effort to standardise economic education and ensure that all students, regardless of their background or school, receive a comprehensive and high-quality economic education.

This paper proposes a series of policy measures designed to transform economic education within the PSHE curriculum. By making economic education statutory, developing a standardised curriculum, and integrating specialised training for teachers within the Initial Teacher Training curriculum, we can ensure that students are equipped with the essential knowledge and skills needed to navigate the complexities of the modern economy. These proposals are grounded in empirical evidence and best practices from both domestic and international contexts, highlighting the transformative potential of a well-structured economic education.

As we delve into the background and context of economic education, analyse its current state within the PSHE framework, and present detailed policy proposals, this paper aims to provide a comprehensive roadmap for enhancing economic literacy among secondary school students in England. By prioritising economic education, we can prepare future generations to make informed decisions, contribute to economic discourse, and thrive in an ever-changing global landscape.

# **Background and Context**

#### What is Economic Education?

Economic education encompasses the teaching and learning of concepts, theories, and practical knowledge related to economics. At its core, economic education aims to equip individuals with the understanding necessary to make informed decisions about personal finance, comprehend the workings of local and global economies, and participate actively in economic discussions and decision–making processes.

**Economic education is more than just financial literacy.** While financial literacy focuses on managing personal finances—such as budgeting, saving, investing, and understanding credit—economic education provides a broader foundation. It delves into how economies operate, the role of government and institutions, market dynamics, and the impact of economic policies on society. This holistic approach ensures that individuals not only manage their finances effectively but also grasp the economic forces that influence their everyday lives.

**The scope of economic education is extensive and multifaceted.** It covers fundamental concepts such as supply and demand, inflation, and interest rates. It explores different economic systems, from capitalism to socialism, and examines the advantages and challenges of each. Moreover, it addresses current economic issues like globalization, unemployment, and environmental sustainability, providing students with a contextual understanding of contemporary economic challenges and debates.

**Economic education fosters critical thinking and analytical skills.** Students learn to evaluate economic arguments, interpret data, and understand the consequences of economic decisions. These skills are not only vital for personal financial health but also for informed citizenship. In a world where economic issues are increasingly complex and interconnected, the ability to analyse and debate these topics is crucial.

Economic education is an essential component of a well-rounded education. It provides the knowledge and skills necessary for personal financial management, fosters a deep understanding of economic systems and policies, and promotes active and informed participation in economic matters.

#### Why is Economic Education Important?

Economic education holds a pivotal role in shaping the competencies and perspectives of individuals, preparing them for both personal financial management and active participation in the broader economic landscape. The significance of economic education extends far beyond the classroom, influencing everyday decisions, long-term financial security, and informed civic engagement. Numerous studies underscore the transformative impact of economic education on economic literacy, validating its critical importance.

Firstly, economic education is fundamental to personal financial management. In an increasingly complex financial environment, individuals are required to make a myriad of financial decisions—from budgeting and saving to investing and managing debt. Economic education provides the essential knowledge and skills needed to navigate these decisions confidently. By understanding key concepts such as interest rates, inflation, and risk management, individuals can make informed choices that enhance their financial well-being and security. Mizzi (2021) emphasises the importance of this "powerful knowledge," noting that it empowers individuals to navigate economic systems effectively and make informed economic decisions. This connection between theoretical concepts and practical applications is crucial for overall economic literacy.

Beyond personal finance, economic education fosters a deeper understanding of economic systems and policies. It equips students with the ability to comprehend and analyse how economies function, the role of different economic agents, and the impact of government policies on markets and individuals. This understanding is crucial for interpreting current events, such as changes in fiscal policy, trade agreements, or economic crises. Walstad (2001) highlights that students who take economics courses demonstrate significantly higher levels of economic knowledge compared to their peers who do not. This foundational understanding enables individuals to critically assess how such events affect them personally and society at large.

Economic education also plays a vital role in promoting informed and engaged citizenship. In democratic societies, citizens are often called upon to make decisions on economic matters through voting and public discourse. A solid foundation in economic principles empowers individuals to participate more effectively in these processes. They can better evaluate political platforms, understand the implications of economic policies, and contribute to discussions on economic issues with reasoned arguments and evidence-based perspectives. Walstad (2001) suggests that economic education in high schools is crucial for preparing students for informed citizenship by providing them with a thorough understanding of economic systems.

Furthermore, economic education encourages critical thinking and problem-solving skills. Through the study of economics, students learn to analyse data, identify trends, and evaluate the consequences of different economic actions. These skills are transferable to many areas of life and work, enhancing overall cognitive abilities and decision-making processes. Practical learning methods, such as simulations, role-playing, and case studies, have been shown to enhance students' ability to relate theoretical knowledge to real-life situations. Mizzi (2021) discusses how secondary school economics education in Malta includes activities that help students understand complex financial systems and make informed decisions, thereby developing their ability to apply economic concepts to real-life scenarios.

On a societal level, economic education supports economic stability and growth. An economically literate population can contribute to a more resilient and dynamic economy. When individuals understand economic principles, they can make choices that collectively lead to more efficient and effective use of resources, fostering innovation and productivity. Budnyk et al. (2022) underscore the importance of creating an educational environment conducive to developing economic literacy, highlighting the necessity of integrating economic education into the broader educational framework from an early age.

The relevance of economic education is further amplified by the rapid changes in the global economy. Technological advancements, globalisation, and shifting economic paradigms require individuals to adapt continually. Economic education provides the tools to understand and respond to these changes proactively. It helps individuals recognise opportunities, mitigate risks, and remain competitive in a globalised world. Comprehensive economic education broadens students' understanding of various economic systems and their functioning, preparing them for active participation in economic discussions and decision-making.

In summary, the importance of economic literacy cannot be overstated. Economic education equips individuals with the knowledge and skills necessary for personal financial management, informed citizenship, and critical thinking. Empirical evidence from studies such as those by Mizzi (2021), Walstad (2001), and Budnyk et al. (2022) demonstrates the profound impact of economic education on enhancing economic literacy. As such, integrating robust economic education into the curriculum is essential for fostering a knowledgeable and economically literate society.

# Current State of Economic Literacy

In the UK, assessing the current state of economic literacy is imperative. Despite the growing complexity of economic issues, there appears to be a significant gap in public understanding. This gap underscores the necessity for enhanced economic education, particularly within the secondary school PSHE (Personal, Social, Health and Economic) curriculum. By evaluating the existing level of economic comprehension, we can identify specific areas needing improvement and tailor educational strategies accordingly.

#### **Understanding of Economic Concepts**

A foundational grasp of economic concepts such as inflation, GDP, and fiscal policy is crucial for individuals to make informed decisions and engage effectively in economic discussions. However, the evidence suggests that the UK public's understanding of these basic concepts is often lacking and varies significantly across different demographics.

The Economics Network (2019) provides insight into the general understanding of key economic principles. While a promising 80% of respondents correctly identified the effects of inflation on wages, there is a stark drop in comprehension when it comes to trade restrictions, with only 46% demonstrating an understanding. This discrepancy points to a selective awareness, where some economic concepts are more commonly understood than others.

Widespread confusion also exists about essential economic roles and terminologies. For instance, 23% of the population do not understand the role of the Chancellor of the Exchequer, and 22% are unclear about the function of the Treasury. More strikingly, nearly two in five Brits do not grasp the concept of Gross Domestic Product (GDP), and over half are unsure about what 'asset prices' mean. This lack of understanding extends to crucial fiscal policies, with about half of the population unable to explain terms like fiscal policy and government bonds (YouGov, 2020).

Gomes et al. (2023) add another layer of complexity, revealing that many people confuse different economic metrics. Specifically, there is a frequent misunderstanding between price levels, changes in prices, and changes in the inflation rate. For example, while 85% of the public correctly perceived that the inflation rate had increased, there is a common misinterpretation that a fall in the inflation rate implies a drop in prices, rather than a slower increase in prices. The paper notes that only 44% of respondents correctly identified GDP as a measure of the size of the economy, and just over half (53%) could accurately define an economic recession.

#### **Understanding Economic Policies and Events**

Public understanding of significant economic policies and events is critical for informed decision–making and effective participation in democratic processes. However, surveys indicate that many people in the UK struggle to fully comprehend these issues, leading to gaps in economic literacy that need to be addressed.

The Economics Network Survey (2017) provides insight into public perceptions of key economic events and policies. According to the survey, only 55% of respondents reported understanding the economic consequences of changes in exchange rates and government spending cuts. However, when it comes to the economic implications of Brexit, only 42% of respondents felt they understood the consequences.

#### **Economic Education in Schools**

The lack of widespread formal economic education in UK schools is a significant gap in the current educational framework. Despite the recognised importance of economic literacy, a large portion of the population has not received any formal education in this area. This gap presents a compelling case for integrating economics into the school curriculum.

Without formal education, individuals are less equipped to understand and navigate complex economic issues, which can impact their personal financial decisions and their ability to engage in informed civic participation. However only 36% of the population have studied economics at any level of education (Economics Network, 2017).

Nevertheless, there is strong public support for the inclusion of economics in the school curriculum. According to the same survey, 75% of respondents believe that economics should be part of the school curriculum. This support reflects a recognition of the value of economic education and its potential to equip future generations with essential knowledge and skills. The public's endorsement of economic education suggests a readiness to embrace reforms that integrate economic principles into the PSHE curriculum.

Integrating economics into the school curriculum could provide students with a foundational understanding of economic concepts, enabling them to make informed decisions throughout their lives. It could also help bridge the gaps in economic literacy identified in previous surveys, fostering a more economically literate society. Given the public's strong support for this initiative, policymakers have a clear mandate to pursue these educational reforms.

# Current State of Economic Education in PSHE

Personal, Social, Health, and Economic (PSHE) education is a school curriculum subject in England designed to equip children and young people with the knowledge, skills, and attributes necessary to navigate life and contribute positively to society. PSHE encompasses a broad range of topics that are crucial for students' personal development, well-being, and preparation for adulthood.

Historically, PSHE has evolved to address the changing needs of students and society. Initially focused on health and social issues, PSHE has expanded to include a wide array of subjects aimed at promoting holistic development. The curriculum now covers areas such as mental health, relationships, physical health, and economic well-being. This evolution reflects the recognition that education must go beyond academic achievement to prepare students for the complexities of life.

The structure of PSHE is designed to be flexible and adaptable. Schools have the autonomy to tailor the PSHE curriculum to meet the specific needs of their students and community. This flexibility allows educators to address relevant local issues and priorities while ensuring that core national standards are met. Despite this adaptability, certain elements of PSHE are statutory, including relationships and sex education (RSE) and health education, ensuring a consistent foundation across all schools.

#### Non-Statutory

Economic education within PSHE, however, is not currently statutory. This aspect of the curriculum includes teaching students about financial literacy, understanding the economy, and developing economic competencies. While some schools may offer robust economic education programmes, there is significant variability in the quality and depth of this instruction across the country. The non-statutory nature of economic education means that it can often be overshadowed by other pressing curricular demands, leading to inconsistencies in delivery and outcomes.

#### Financial, rather than Economic

Even where economic education is included within PSHE, the depth and scope of the material covered can be limited. Many programmes focus primarily on personal finance management—such as budgeting, saving, and understanding credit—without delving into broader economic concepts and competencies. This narrow focus fails to provide students with a holistic understanding of how economies function, the role of different economic agents, and the impact of economic policies on society. Walstad (2001) emphasises the need for a structured approach to teaching economic fundamentals to ensure students develop critical thinking skills and analytical abilities needed to navigate complex economic issues.

Current PSHE curricula often emphasise financial literacy over broader economic competencies. While financial literacy is crucial, it is only one aspect of economic education. Developing critical economic competencies—such as understanding economic systems, analysing policy impacts, and evaluating market behaviour—is equally important for preparing students to navigate and contribute to the economy effectively. A more balanced approach that includes these competencies would provide a more comprehensive economic education.

#### Unconnected

Moreover, the integration of economic education within the broader PSHE curriculum can be fragmented. Economic topics are often taught in isolation, without clear connections to other areas of PSHE. This fragmented approach can limit students' ability to see the relevance of economic education to their overall personal development and future success. A more integrated approach could help students understand how economic principles intersect with health, relationships, and social issues.

#### Variable

One significant issue is the lack of standardisation. Without a mandatory curriculum, schools may not prioritise economic education, resulting in gaps in students' knowledge and skills. The absence of a standardised curriculum for economic education results in wide disparities in the content and quality of instruction. Ofsted (2013) notes that many PSHE programmes fail to cover all aspects of the curriculum in sufficient depth. Implementing a standardised economics curriculum within PSHE would guarantee that all students receive consistent, high-quality instruction in economic principles, regardless of their school.

A robust economic education curriculum must include fundamental elements that balance theoretical knowledge with practical applications. Mizzi (2021) highlights the significance of incorporating practical activities and real-world scenarios in the curriculum, which help students relate economic concepts to their everyday lives. Additionally, Walstad (2001), among others, discusses the core principles and concepts that should be part of an economic education curriculum, emphasising the need for a structured approach to teaching economic fundamentals. Numerous studies have attempted to prescribe the topics that an economically competent person should learn. These can be used as a guideline for a potential curriculum and adapted to meet the needs of secondary school children in England.

The role of a well-designed curriculum in ensuring comprehensive economic literacy cannot be overstated. It addresses diverse learning needs and promotes engagement by making economic concepts accessible and relevant to students. A curriculum that integrates both theoretical and practical components prepares students to understand and navigate complex economic issues effectively.

Standardising the economic education curriculum offers several advantages, including ensuring consistency and quality across schools. A standardised curriculum guarantees that all students have equal access to high-quality economic education, irrespective of their geographical location or socio-economic background. The Council for Economic Education (2010) developed the Voluntary National Content Standards to improve the quality of economic education in schools in the USA. The primary aim was to give students skills that'll allow them to eventually participate fully in the global economy. Walstad and Wagner (2010) have noted that despite individual states holding different requirements on economic content standards, these states often refer to the Voluntary National Content Standards when developing their own standards. Furthermore, educational organisations in America use the Voluntary National Content Standards to develop resources for teachers.

#### Poor Teacher Training

A critical limitation is the lack of specialised training and resources for teachers tasked with delivering economic education. Böhm et al. (2021) found that improving the quality of teacher education has a more significant impact on economic literacy than simply increasing lesson frequency, whilst Davies & Matley (2020) emphasise the importance of providing sufficient training and resources for teachers to deliver high-quality economic education. Many teachers may not have a background in economics, affecting their confidence and effectiveness in teaching this subject. Without proper training and resources, teachers may struggle to engage students and convey complex economic concepts in an accessible and meaningful way.

According to Ofsted (2013), many teachers have received little or no PSHE-specific training, resulting in limited subject knowledge and inadequate teaching skills. This lack of preparation leads to poorly planned lessons, with teachers unsure of their objectives and often delivering content that is too simplistic. Van Wyk (2012) highlights that comprehensive teacher training programmes are essential for equipping teachers with the necessary knowledge and skills to teach economic concepts effectively. Improving the quality of teacher education and focusing on effective teaching processes can have a more significant impact on economic literacy than simply increasing lesson frequency.

## **Case Studies**

#### Austria

Austrian educators employ a variety of interactive teaching methods to engage students and deepen their understanding of economic concepts. These methods include group discussions, case studies, simulations, and project-based learning. By actively involving students in the learning process, these interactive methods help to reinforce economic principles and promote critical thinking.

Lessons in Austria are often tied to real-world scenarios, helping students see the relevance of economic concepts in their daily lives. This practical approach enhances retention and understanding by allowing students to apply theoretical knowledge to practical situations. For example, students might analyse current economic events or policies, fostering a deeper connection between classroom learning and real-world economic dynamics.

Teachers in Austria receive specialised training in economic education. These programs cover both content knowledge and pedagogical skills, ensuring that teachers are well-equipped to deliver economic lessons effectively. The focus on specialised training helps maintain high teaching standards and ensures that economic education is delivered consistently and competently.

Ongoing professional development opportunities are provided to keep teachers updated on the latest economic theories, teaching methods, and technological tools. This continuous learning helps maintain high teaching standards and enables teachers to incorporate new and innovative teaching strategies into their lessons.

#### United States of America

Economic education in U.S. high schools is guided by national and state standards. The Council for Economic Education's Voluntary National Content Standards in Economics outline essential economic concepts that students should understand by the time they graduate from high school. They are seen as "essential principle of economics that an economically literate student should know" (Council for Economic Education, 2010).

Numerous programs and initiatives have been developed to enhance teacher preparedness in economics. A number of organisations offer workshops, webinars, and certification programs that provide educators with the knowledge and resources needed to teach economics effectively.

#### Key Programs:

- Foundation for Teaching Economics: This organisation runs a number of online programmes that seek to embed teachers with an understanding of basic economic concepts, as well as the economic ideas relating to specific events and ideas. Their Economics of Disasters analyses the economics behind events such as pandemics and natural disasters, while their Economics and Environmentalism course introduces teachers to economic approaches towards preserving our environment (Foundation for Teaching Economics, 2023).
- Master Teacher Program: An initiative by the CEE that trains K-12 teachers, equipping them with the ability to then run professional development workshops for teachers in their communities on economics and personal finance.(Council for Economic Education, 2023).

# **Policy Proposals**

Economic literacy is essential for personal financial well-being, informed citizenship, and career readiness. Despite its importance, economic education in England remains inconsistent and insufficiently integrated into the secondary school curriculum. This section outlines key policy proposals aimed at making economic education a statutory requirement within PSHE, developing a standardised economic curriculum within PSHE, and enhancing teacher training within the Initial Teacher Training curriculum. These proposals are designed to ensure that all students receive a comprehensive and effective economic education.

# Policy 1: Making Economic Education a Statutory Part of PSHE

Mandate the inclusion of economic education as a statutory component within the Personal, Social, Health, and Economic (PSHE) education curriculum for secondary schools.

Economic literacy is foundational for personal and societal well-being. Making economic education a statutory part of PSHE ensures that every student receives consistent and comprehensive instruction in economic principles, regardless of their school or region. This integration within PSHE leverages the existing framework, highlighting the importance of economic literacy alongside other critical areas such as health and relationships.

This policy enhances students' understanding of fundamental economic concepts such as supply and demand, market structures, and the role of government in the economy. By understanding these principles, students are better prepared to analyse economic issues, understand the implications of economic policies, and make informed decisions that affect their lives and communities.

Moreover, statutory economic education within PSHE fosters informed citizenship. Understanding economic principles enables individuals to critically evaluate government policies, understand taxation, and participate in public debates. An informed citizenry is essential for a functioning democracy, where voters can make decisions based on a sound understanding of economic implications. By ensuring that all students receive a robust economic education, this policy helps create a more informed and engaged electorate.

# Policy 2: Developing a Standardised Economic Curriculum within PSHE

Develop a standardised economic curriculum that covers a comprehensive range of topics within the PSHE framework, including basic economic principles, personal finance, economic systems, and entrepreneurship.

A standardised economic curriculum within PSHE ensures consistency in the quality and content of economic education across all schools. This uniformity helps to eliminate disparities in economic literacy that arise from varying levels of instruction and resource availability. With clear learning objectives and outcomes defined at each educational stage, students receive a structured and progressive education that builds a solid foundation in economics.

By covering a comprehensive range of topics, the standardised curriculum provides students with a well-rounded understanding of economic concepts. Topics such as supply and demand, market structures, budgeting, saving, and investing are essential for everyday financial decision-making. Additionally, understanding economic systems and entrepreneurship fosters critical thinking and innovation, skills that are valuable in the modern job market.

The standardised curriculum also facilitates better monitoring and evaluation of student progress. Educational authorities can implement standardised assessments to measure student understanding and curriculum effectiveness. This data-driven approach allows for continuous improvement of the curriculum, ensuring that it remains relevant and effective in meeting the needs of students and the evolving economic landscape.

# Policy 3: Establishing Economic Teacher Training within the Initial Teacher Training Curriculum

Integrate specialised training in economic education into the Initial Teacher Training curriculum, including specific modules on economic theory, pedagogy, and practical applications, along with continuous professional development opportunities.

The effectiveness of economic education is closely tied to the quality of teaching. By integrating specialised training in economic education into the Initial Teacher Training curriculum, this policy ensures that future teachers are well-prepared to deliver complex economic concepts effectively. Teacher training programs that include modules on economic theory, pedagogy, and practical applications equip educators with the knowledge and skills necessary to engage students and foster a deep understanding of economics.

Continuous professional development opportunities are crucial for keeping teachers updated with the latest educational practices and economic developments. Ongoing training, including workshops, seminars, and online courses, helps teachers stay informed and confident in their teaching methods. This commitment to professional growth enhances the overall quality of economic education and supports teachers in providing the best possible learning experiences for their students.

Furthermore, this policy promotes the development of a community of well-trained economic educators who can share best practices and resources. Collaboration among educators, supported by teacher training institutions, strengthens the teaching profession and contributes to the continuous improvement of economic education. Ultimately, well-trained teachers are more effective in helping students achieve high levels of economic literacy, preparing them for successful personal and professional lives.

# Summary of Policy Proposals

#### 1. Making Economic Education Statutory:

- Mandate the inclusion of economic education within the PSHE curriculum to ensure all students receive comprehensive instruction in economic principles.
- This statutory inclusion will elevate the importance of economic literacy alongside other critical areas such as health and relationships.

#### 2. Developing a Standardised Economic Curriculum:

- Create a standardised curriculum covering fundamental economic concepts, personal finance, economic systems, and entrepreneurship.
- This will ensure consistency in the quality and content of economic education across all schools, providing equal learning opportunities for all students.

# 3. Establishing Economic Teacher Training within the Initial Teacher Training Curriculum:

- Integrate specialised training in economic education into the Initial Teacher Training curriculum, including modules on economic theory, pedagogy, and practical applications.
- Provide continuous professional development opportunities to keep teachers updated with the latest educational practices and economic developments.

## Conclusion

In conclusion, the necessity for comprehensive economic education within the English secondary school curriculum is both urgent and undeniable. As we have explored throughout this paper, economic literacy is crucial not only for individual financial well-being but also for fostering informed, engaged, and economically competent citizens. The current state of economic education within PSHE is inadequate, suffering from variability and inconsistency in both content and delivery. This inconsistency undermines the potential for students to develop a robust understanding of economic principles and their applications.

The proposed policy measures aim to address these gaps and elevate the status of economic education. Making economic education a statutory component of PSHE will ensure that all students receive a baseline level of economic knowledge, regardless of their school or region. This statutory inclusion will place economic education on par with other critical areas of PSHE, such as health and relationships, thereby recognising its fundamental importance.

Furthermore, developing a standardised economic curriculum within PSHE will provide a cohesive and comprehensive framework for economic education. This standardisation will eliminate disparities, ensuring that every student has access to high-quality economic instruction. By encompassing a broad range of topics, from basic economic principles to complex global economic systems, the curriculum will prepare students to navigate and contribute to the economy effectively.

Enhancing teacher training within the Initial Teacher Training curriculum is essential to support these initiatives. Specialised training in economic education will equip teachers with the knowledge and pedagogical skills needed to deliver complex economic concepts with confidence and clarity. Continuous professional development will ensure that teachers remain informed about the latest educational practices and economic developments, fostering a dynamic and responsive learning environment.

The integration of these policies will cultivate a generation of economically literate individuals capable of making informed decisions, participating in economic discourse, and contributing to the stability and growth of the economy. As we move forward, it is imperative that policymakers, educators, and stakeholders collaborate to implement these changes, ensuring that economic education becomes a cornerstone of the English secondary school curriculum. By doing so, we can prepare our students not just for the challenges of today, but for the opportunities of tomorrow, creating a more informed, resilient, and economically savvy society.

## References

Böhm, J., Sonneck, J., and Dressler, S. (2021). 'The impact of secondary education on the level of financial literacy: The case of Slovakia', *Journal of Financial Education*, 47(2), pp. 233-252.

Budnyk, O., Konovalchuk, I., Konovalchuk, I., Onyschuk, I., Matsuk, L., and Fomin, K., (2022). 'The problem of economic literacy development of children and youth', *Revista de la Universidad del Zulia*, 13(38), pp. 235-251.

Council for Economic Education. (2010). *Voluntary National Content Standards in Economics*. 2nd edn. New York: Council for Economic Education. Available at: https://www.councilforeconed.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/voluntary-national-content-standards-2010.pdf (Accessed: 29 May 2024).

Council for Economic Education. (2023). *Master Teacher Program*. Available at: https://www.councilforeconed.org/teacher-programs/master-teacher-program/(Accessed: 29 May 2024).

Davies, D. and Matley, P. (2020). Teachers and pupils under pressure: UK teachers' views on the content and format of personal, social, health and economic education. *Journal of Education Research*, 8(2), pp. 125-140.

Economics Network (2017) *ING-Economics Network Survey of Public Understanding of Economics 2017.* Available at:

https://economicsnetwork.ac.uk/research/understandingecon (Accessed: 4 July 2024).

Economics Network (2019) *ING-Economics Network Survey of Public Understanding of Economics 2019*. Available at:

https://economicsnetwork.ac.uk/research/understandingecon/2019 (Accessed: 4 July 2024).

Foundation for Teaching Economics. (2023). *Economics for Leaders*. Available at: https://fte.org/teachers/virtual-teacher-programs/online-programs/ (Accessed: 29 May 2024).

Gomes, E., Hughes, M., and Runge, J. (2023) *Public Understanding of Economics and Economic Statistics After the Covid-19 Pandemic.* ESCoE Discussion Paper 2023-13. London: Economic Statistics Centre of Excellence. Available at: https://escoewebsite.s3.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/28153406/ESCoE-DP-2023-13-V2.pdf (Accessed: 4 July 2024).

Mizzi, E. (2021). Cultivating Financial Literacy Through Secondary School Economics Education: Access to Powerful Knowledge. *International Journal for Business Education*, 162(1), pp. 139-150.

## References

Ofsted. (2013). Not yet good enough: personal, social, health and economic education in schools. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/not-yet-good-enough-personal-social-health-and-economic-education (Accessed: 24 June 2024).

Walstad, W.B. (2001). Economic Education in U.S. High Schools. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 15(3), pp. 195-210.

Walstad, W.B. and Rebeck, K. (2012). *The Test of Economic Literacy (TEL*). 4th edn. New York: Council for Economic Education. Available at: https://www.c3teachers.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Walstad\_Rebeck.pdf (Accessed: 29 May 2024).

Walstad, W. B. and Wagner, J. (2023). *An Assessment of Economic Education in U.S. High Schools*. Available at:

 $https://www.aeaweb.org/conference/2024/program/paper/rZtBa343\#:\sim:text=Studies\%20from\%20the\%20National\%20Assessment, and\%20ability\%20of\%20the\%20students.$ 

Van Wyk, M.M. (2012). The effectiveness of the Training of Teachers Project in economic education in Free State secondary schools. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 32(2), pp. 179-188.

YouGov (2020) 'Brits are confused by economic jargon', *YouGov*. Available at: https://yougov.co.uk/economy/articles/28349-brits-are-confused-economic-jargon (Accessed: 5 July 2024).